IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-1301

LOWER TRIBUNAL NO. 97-9232-CF

JASON DEMETRIUS STEPHENS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

D. TODD DOSS
Florida Bar No. 0910384

725 Southeast Baya Drive
Suite 102
Lake City, FL 32025-6092
Telephone (386) 755-9119
Facsimile (386) 755-3181

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Stephens' motion for postconviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. The circuit court denied Mr. Stephens' claims after an evidentiary hearing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 7, 1997, Mr. Stephens was indicted with one count of first degree murder, one count of armed kidnaping, six counts of armed robbery, two counts of attempted armed robbery, one count of burglary, and one count of aggravated burglary (Vol. I, R. 8). On December 8, 1997, Mr. Stephens pled guilty to eight of these charges (Vol. II, R. 232-34).

Mr. Stephens= jury trial on the remaining counts (three counts of armed robbery and one count of first degree murder) resulted in a guilty verdict on one count of armed robbery and one count of first degree murder. On January, 15, 1998, as to count I (first degree murder), the jury recommended a sentence

of death by a vote of nine (9) to three (3) (Vol. V, R. 798).

On April 7, 1998, the trial court sentenced Mr. Stephens to death for the first degree murder charge and to accompanying consecutive and concurrent terms of life on the robbery and kidnaping counts (Vol. XV, R. 397-8).

The Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Stephens' conviction and sentence on direct appeal. Stephens v. State, 787 So. 2d 747 (Fla. 2001), *rehearing denied* June 4, 2001. The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on November 13, 2001.

Mr. Stephens' initial Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 motion was filed on October 23, 2002. A case management conference was conducted on March 10, 2003, after which the circuit court granted an evidentiary on a number of Mr. Stephens' claims.

Mr. Stephens filed an amended 3.850 motion on August 4, 2004. Subsequent to the State's response, which was filed on August 11, 2004, an evidentiary hearing was conducted on August 25-26, 2004. Following the submission of written closing arguments, on April 29, 2005, the circuit court issued an order denying relief (PC-R. 252-283). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

During the postconviction evidentiary hearing, testimony was presented regarding several issues. One such issue involved the ineffective assistance of counsel during Mr. Stephens' penalty phase proceedings. At the penalty phase of

Mr. Stephens= trial, counsel presented evidence that Mr. Stephens Awas good with children, had been raised in a good Catholic family, had an ability to work with his hands to build things, had been deeply affected by his father=s death, was remorseful for Sparrow III=s death, and was religious.@ Stephens, 787 So. 2d at 752. No mental health mitigation testimony was presented and no statutory mitigating factors were found.

In support of his penalty phase ineffective assistance of counsel claim, Mr. Stephens presented the testimony of family members, other lay witnesses and a mental health expert during the postconviction evidentiary hearing.¹ Brian Stephens, Jason=s younger brother, testified that he and Jason had a close relationship and that Jason was Brain=s protector (T. 145-46). Jason was the black sheep of the family, and he got more and more into the street life as he got older (T. 146-47). Jason left school around the ninth or tenth grade, and he was around seventeen when he left home (T. 147).

For the most part, Brian testified that he came from a close and loving family, and that his parents made them go to church every Sunday (T. 152). However, in terms of discipline, the children used to get a lot of beatings, mostly

¹In rebuttal, the State presented the testimony of one of Mr. Stephens= attorneys, Refik Eler.

by their father (T. 147). He would beat them with a switch, stick or P.V.C. pipe (T. 148).²

During his testimony, Brian also recounted an incident where Jason accidentally shot his brother Michael in the family living room (T. 149). Jason was upset about that longer than Brian ever thought he would be (T. 150). Brian only saw Jason cry twice, once over shooting his brother and once when his father died (T. 150).

Brian did not testify at Jason's trial (T. 151). No one asked or talked to him about testifying (T. 151).

Michael Stephens, Jason's younger brother by six months, testified that he and Jason had a good relationship (T. 154).

They fought and got into trouble a lot, but they loved and took up for each other (T. 154).

When they got into trouble, they would be punished: **A**Most of the time it was whoppings. Sometimes we have to go to bed early. We barely got grounded but most of the times it was whoppings.@ (T. 155). They were beaten with belts, switches and pipes, mostly by their dad (T. 155). Sometimes the beatings would be 20, 30 or 40 strikes, and sometimes it seemed like forever until they stopped crying (T. 155).

²According to Brian, HRS was never called about the incidents involving the switch, stick or PVC pipe (T. 153).

Their dad was in the military and he gave them military-type discipline (T. 155). They would have to stay in push-up position for a while or stand against the wall holding encyclopedias in both hands (T. 155-56). Their dad showed a good side when he wasn't involved in discipline, and they all loved him (T. 156). In fact, when their dad passed away, Jason cried for two days and he didn't say anything for about a month (T. 156).

Michael explained what occurred during and after the accidental shooting. Jason was unloading the gun and it went off, and Michael was shot in the face (T. 157). Michael was in the hospital for 26 days (T. 157). The first three or four nights, Jason didn't leave the hospital (T. 157). He was upset, remorseful and had a lot of guilt for a while (T. 157).

Michael and Jason became a lot closer after this incident, and Jason became Michael's protector (T. 157). Jason would walk Michael to school and make sure that nobody bothered him (T. 157).

They went to counseling after the incident, but the psychiatrist decided Jason had shot Michael on purpose, so they never went back (T. 158). This upset Jason and Michael (T. 158).³

³Jason started getting into more trouble after he shot Michael, but it really hit the top after their father died (T. 158).

Jeremy Tinsley has known Jason Stephens since they were about fourteen or fifteen years old (T. 8). Tinsley testified as to his knowledge of Jason's drug use (T. 12). Jason used marijuana and powdered cocaine on a regular basis, as did Tinsley (T. 12, 16, 17).⁴ Back in 1997, when the crime in question occurred, Jason used cocaine every night (T. 12-13). Sometimes, he would engage in bizarre behavior and his mood would quickly become extremely angry (T. 13). The amount of cocaine that Tinsley and Jason bought depended on how much money they had and what they were doing at the time (T. 16). Sometimes, it might have been a quarter or an eight ball (T. 16).

Sharron Davis has known Jason Stephens since 1994, and they had dated for a little while (T. 164-65). Sharron testified that Jason was never violent toward her, and he never put a hand on her if they had an argument (T. 165).

⁴Tinsley also sold cocaine, but he didn't know if Jason sold it as well (T. 16).

Sharron and Jason knew a woman named Tyra Brown Wilkerson (T. 165). Tyra had children, and Jason had a great relationship with them (T. 166).⁵ He would take care of the kids, including Tyra's daughter, when she was three years old (T. 166). During this time period, Tyra's daughter could open and unlock a car door (T. 166-67). Sharron witnessed Tyra's daughter open and unlock the car door with Jason present (T. 167).⁶

Sharron Davis never had contact with Mr. Stephens' attorney (T. 167). She would have been available to testify had she been contacted (T. 168).

Tyra Brown Wilkerson has been friends with Mr. Stephens since 1993 or 1994 (T. 169). Back in 1997, Tyra saw Jason often (T. 170). Tyra had two children in 1997 and Jason had a great relationship with them (T. 170). Tyra allowed Jason to care for her children (T. 170). Also, Tyra verified that her daughter was able to open and unlock a car door at three years old, and that Jason was present when she had done this (T. 170).

Tyra further testified that she sometimes saw Jason get angry, but that he had to be provoked just like anyone else

⁵Sharron is the godmother of Wilkerson's daughter (T. 166).

⁶After he was arrested, Jason told Sharron how much he cared for Tyra's daughter, and he stated that she could open a door at the age of three (T. 167).

(T. 171). Tyra had that relationship with Jason where she could talk to him and he would get under control (T. 171-72).

According to Jason's sister, Tyra was the only one who could seem to get Jason under control when he was angry (T. 172).

Shondra Brown is Tyra Brown Wilkerson's sister (T. 174). Jason was a friend of the family and Shondra knew him back in 1997 (T. 174). Shondra testified that Jason would take care of Tyra's children, and he was present when at three years old, one of the children would open and unlock the car door (T. 175).

According to Shondra, Jason could get angry very quickly, and only Tyra could get him under control by talking to him (T. 175-76). When Shondra first met Jason, she thought he was crazy (T. 176). Jason walked around in a bullet-proof vest and he kept his gun on him at all times (T. 176). He was always looking out the window saying stuff like, "I got to get them before they get me." (T. 176). With regard to his personal appearance, Jason cut one side of his hair completely off, so he was completely bald on one side (T. 179). Jason commented that this was for his personality, for different people (T. 180).

With regard to drug use, Shondra testified that Jason used to smoke marijuana (T. 177). On the day of the crimes in question, Shondra saw Jason at her sister's house (T. 177). Jason seemed very paranoid and he kept looking out the window

(T. 177). He got a phone call and flipped out; he went crazy (T. 177-78). Shondra testified that Jason was smoking marijuana in the living room area; the marijuana had a funny smell to it (T. 178). Shondra thought there was powder or cocaine in the marijuana (T. 178).

Shondra was interviewed by the police, but no one from Jason's defense team contacted her (T. 180). She would have testified had counsel contacted her (T. 180).

Dr. Jethrow Toomer, an expert in clinical and forensic psychology, evaluated Mr. Stephens in August, 2000, for about four to five hours (T. 23, 24-25). Dr. Toomer also reviewed the Florida Supreme Court opinion, police reports, transcripts from the trial, reports from experts, school records, and D.O.C. records, which included testing that was conducted there (T. 24).

During Mr. Stephens' evaluation, Dr. Toomer administered a battery of tests to assess personality functioning, academic skill, intellectual functioning and substance abuse (T. 25). Dr. Toomer also spoke with several of Mr. Stephens' family members, including his mother Delena, his sister Angela, and his brothers, Michael and Eric (T. 25).

In addition, Dr. Toomer reviewed prior evaluations, including reports from Dr. Miller and Dr. Knox (T. 27).⁷ The

⁷Prior to Mr. Stephens' trial, Dr. Miller and Dr. Knox were appointed to determine whether Mr. Stephens met the criteria for involuntary hospitalization, whether Mr. Stephens was competent to stand trial, and whether Mr. Stephens was

purpose of those evaluations looked primarily at issues related to competency and sanity of Mr. Stephens (T. 27). As Dr. Toomer explained, one would look at different factors and want different records if you were making an assessment as to whether a statutory mitigator applied as opposed to sanity or competency (T. 28-30).

Dr. Toomer administered the Bender Gestalt Designs test, which is a screening instrument that provides some indication as to whether or not there is the likelihood of some thought processing disturbance, personality disorganization or underlying neurological involvement (T. 31). On that test, Mr. Stephens showed soft signs of underlying neurological involvement, and Dr. Toomer indicated that a further neuropsychological evaluation should follow to pinpoint the nature and extent of any possible organic impairment (T. 32).

Dr. Toomer also administered the Wide Range Achievement Test, which assesses academic skill functioning (T. 34). Mr. Stephens is capable of reading at the high school level, but in terms of spelling and arithmetic, he is at the fourth grade level and seventh grade level respectively (T. 34). While Mr. Stephens I.Q. is in the average range, there was a break in

insane at the time of the crime (Vol. I, R. 36-39), (Vol. II, R. 212-215).

the difference of verbal and non-verbal (T. 34). When you start to see gaps between the performance levels, then it suggests there are other kinds of factors that are operating (T. 35).

Dr. Toomer also administered the Milan Clinical Multiaxial Inventory, which is an instrument that assesses overall personality functioning (T. 37). Mr. Stephens' responses suggested psycho active substance abuse as a diagnostic category, borderline personality disorder and a judgment disorder with anxiety (T. 37).

Additionally, Dr. Toomer administered the Structured Clinical Interview, which is an instrument that's designed to assess overall substance abuse (T. 38). This test reflected a history of substance abuse on the part of Mr. Stephens dating back to the age of sixteen, and it was also characterized by an increased tolerance (T. 38). When you see this increase in tolerance, it usually signifies that you have someone who is in increasing emotional pain and is self medicating (T. 39).

Further, Dr. Toomer administered the Carlson Psychological Survey, which assesses personality functioning and compares individuals who are in the criminal justice system (T. 40). While Mr. Stephens didn't fit any preestablished profile, his responses reflected underlying emotional turmoil, cynicism, hostility and mistrust of

environment and people around him (T. 41). This suggests a pattern of underlying personality disturbance (T. 41).

Dr. Toomer gathered information from his interviews with Mr. Stephens' family members. This information reflected a history characterized by significant deficits in adaptive functioning in terms of inter-personal relationships, impulse control, overall behavior and school adjustment (T. 44):

His behavior vacillated from one end of the continuum to the other, from adaptive to being maladaptive. His mother for example talked about the fact that he was diagnosed with attention deficit hyper-activity disorder at an early age. There were instances of fire setting, school problems, moving from one school to another, issues related to just unusual, unpredictable behavior, darting into traffic, jumping off of buildings, all those kinds of incidents that have characterized behavior and behavior that his family members describe as being accident prone, that he seemed to be injured a lot and the injury wasn't of his own doing or just by accident but it was unusual to the point that most family members mention and describe him as being accident prone.

(T. 45). There were numerous accidents that Mr. Stephens experienced during his developmental history, including an accident where Mr. Stephens had some fairly severe head trauma

(T. 46). When you put everything together, what they strongly suggest is underlying neurological involvement (T. 47).

They suggest that there are factors, that there may be organic factors influencing behavior when you get this wide range of behavior, when you get the vacillating behavior. For example, where on the one hand you get behavior that violates the norms of society, on the other hand you get - - you have an individual who also apparently cares very much for children, can be empathetic, has a history of being empathetic and being helpful and being of service when called upon to do so.

(T. 47). The significance of being empathetic is that it suggests the existence of a conscience, as having the ability to care for someone other than yourself as opposed to a sociopath who is incapable of doing that (T. 48).

Mr. Stephens' problems seemed to be exacerbated by the family dynamics (T. 46):

The father was described as a stern, strict disciplinarian that, you know, basically what was described would today - - would today constitute abuse and would probably - - probably result in a call to DCF or some similar agency, and so that kind of - - that kind of strict discipline coupled with distance in terms of emotional distance appeared to have exacerbated existing problems that the defendant had over his - - over his lifetime.

(T. 46-47).

Dr. Toomer testified that the idea of impulsivity means that you simply act on the spot; you don't project consequences (T. 49):

When individuals grow up in an environment that is not nurturing, that is not caring, that is unpredictable and is not characterized by saneness, what you have is you have fixation at an earlier stage of development while the individual continues to advance chronologically.

So you have an individual who is like 18, 19, 20 years of age chronologically. Emotionally they are six, seven, eight, whatever, because what has happened is because of that - - those predispositional variables adversely impact on their development. Emotionally are still at a much younger, younger age, so as a result just like children, children at a young age have no impulse control. Children act. They don't think. They don't predict consequences.

So you have someone who is 18, 19 or 20 and they are still acting as if they were much younger

because of those deficits and that's what you have with Mr. Stephens.

(T. 50-51).

The school records reflected that Mr. Stephens was in and out of various schools over his developmental history and that suggests once again that what you have got is someone who is - - who isn't equipped to manage in a way that's commensurate with his chronological age (T. 53).

Mr. Stephens came into contact with the juvenile justice system and, in 1988, he was referred for short-term counseling (T. 55). Mr. Stephens also participated in a program called the Alligator Stop Program (T. 55). However, the red flags were there at a very early age and what was done always seemed to be too little too late in terms of their impact...@ (T. 55).

Mr. Stephens was also involved in the accidental shooting of his brother (T. 56). He was extremely remorseful and was at his brother's bed throughout the entire hospitalization (T. 56). There was nothing specific done in terms of helping Mr. Stephens deal with the guilt and remorse over this incident (T. 56-57). Mr. Stephens attempted to deal with it by himself, but was incapable of doing so (T. 58).

Based on the totality of the data, Dr. Toomer concluded that Mr. Stephens was acting under an extreme emotional disturbance at the time of the crime (T. 60).

I would characterize it based upon the totality of what I have done and based upon the likelihood of

numerous, numerous areas of dysfunction contributing to that particular disturbance. I believe that there is - - there is significant data to suggest the likelihood of organicity. There is a history of psychiatric substance abuse. There is definitively borderline personality disorder.

There are a number of factors in terms of impulse control that have contributed to his functioning. There is the likelihood of possible anxiety disorder. There are a number of provisional diagnoses that are reflected in the totality of the data that have influenced his behavior for a long time.

(T. 61). Further, Dr. Toomer concluded that Mr. Stephens did not have the ability to conform his conduct to the law at the time of the crime (T. 62). Mr. Stephens has an inability to conform because he's acting on impulse, which has characterized his developmental history for most of his life (T. 62).

On cross examination by the State, Dr. Toomer agreed that the mitigation testimony by Mr. Stephens' family at trial is very different from the picture now being presented (T. 65).

Dr. Toomer also reiterated his general conclusion of a borderline personality disorder, with the dominant characteristic of this disorder being instability and impulsivity (T. 68-69). Dr. Toomer agreed that personality disorders can co-occur, and that there are anti-social traits in Mr. Stephens (T. 75, 77-78). However, Dr. Toomer subsequently explained that one can manifest anti-social traits but that doesn't mean that you meet the criteria for sociopathy or for the anti-social personality disorder (T.

100). Someone with anti-social personality disorder would not have the ability to show any kind of empathy, and Mr. Stephens was able to show empathy (T. 100). Also, remorse is something that would rule out anti-social personality disorder (T. 105). Mr. Stephens showed remorse (T. 106).

Dr. Toomer was aware that at trial, Dr. Knox evaluated Mr. Stephens and also determined that there was a significant difference between his verbal and performance I.Q.s (T. 81).

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