#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JASON DEMETRIUS STEPHENS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC05-1301

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Because Dr. Buck's statement to the media involved matters that inhered in the verdict, it did not give rise to legal grounds for a jury interview. As such, trial counsel's decision not to pursue the motion did not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel.

This Court may also deny this claim because Stephens failed to show prejudice as a result of his decision to withdraw his motion for a juror interview. During argument on Stephens' motion to interview jurors as a result of Dr. Buck's media statement, the trial court specifically found the comments were related to matters inherent in the verdict and not in the nature of jury misconduct. (TR Vol. V 869). Accordingly, even if trial counsel would have persisted in his motion, the trial court would have denied it. <u>Devoney v. State</u>, 717 So. 2d 501, 502 (Fla. 1998) (The jurors' mental thoughts and beliefs which relate to what occurred in the jury room during the jury's

deliberation inhere in the verdict and may not be the subject of jury inquiry).

Moreover, even if the jury did not believe Stephens intended to kill three-year-old Robert Sparrow III, the death sentence was still a permissible recommended sentence. Accordingly, Stephens cannot show that a juror interview would to bring to light matters that, if true, would mandate this court to order a new penalty phase.

Before penalty phase deliberations commenced, the trial court instructed the jury it could not consider the death penalty as a possible punishment unless it was convinced beyond a reasonable doubt, and unanimously, that the defendant killed the victim, or intended the victim to be killed, or that he played a significant role in the underlying felony and acted with reckless indifference to human life. (TR Vol. V 785-786). A verdict form requiring a specific finding of fact (YES/NO) on this issue was provided to the jury. (TR Vol. V 792). The jury made the requisite findings by checking "YES" on the verdict form. (TR. Vol. II 335).

In its sentencing order, the trial court also found that at a minimum, the evidence established beyond a reasonable doubt that Stephens acted with reckless indifference to human life. (TR. Vol II, 387). On direct appeal, this Court found that
Stephens acted with indifference to human life. <u>Stephens v.</u> <u>State</u>, 787 So.2d 747, 760 (Fla. 2001) (concluding that the record of trial demonstrates that Stephens was indifferent to the fate of this helpless child). This Court also found that Stephens was not merely an aider and abetter in a felony where a murder was committed by others. Instead this Court found that Stephens personally committed the crimes of burglary and robbery, kidnapped the child victim, drove him to a location unknown to his parents and left him in a hot, closed car. <u>Id</u>.

In addition to this Court's decision on direct appeal in this case, controlling United States Supreme Court and Florida Supreme Court case law in other cases demonstrate death is a permissible sentence even if Stephens did not intend to kill the child in the course of the robbery or kidnapping. In <u>Enmund v.</u> <u>Florida</u>, 458 U.S. 782, 797 (1982), the United States Supreme Court held that the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution does not permit imposition of the death penalty on a defendant who only "aids and abets a felony in the course of which a murder is committed by others but who does not himself kill, attempt to kill, or intend that a killing take place or that lethal force will be employed." In <u>Tison v. Arizona</u>, 481 U.S. 137,158 (1987), the Supreme Court refined <u>Enmund</u> and explained that death was a permissible sentence under a felony

murder theory when the defendant was a major participant in the felony committed and acted with a reckless indifference to human life. See also Chamberlain v. State, 881 So.2d 1087,1109 (Fla. 2004)(noting that death is permissible when the defendant is a major participant in the underlying felony and acts with reckless indifference to human life); Franqui v. State, 804 So.2d 1185, 1206 n. 12 (Fla.2001) (noting that Edmund/Tison application would allow death sentence where defendant was a major participant in the felony committed and acted with a reckless indifference to human life); <u>Van Poyck v. State</u>, 564 So.2d 1066, 1070-71 (Fla.1990) (finding the death sentence proportionate where the defendant was the instigator and primary participant in the underlying crimes, came to the scene "armed to the teeth," and knew lethal force could be used).<sup>17</sup>

As established by the law of the case, Stephens was the principal actor in a burglary and robbery. He personally kidnapped three year old Robert Sparrow III from his home, and left him alone in a hot car in a place unknown to his parents. This Court found specifically that Stephens personally committed the underlying felonies of burglary, robbery and kidnapping and

 $<sup>^{17}</sup>$  The trial court applied the <u>Edmund/Tison</u> standard in determining whether to impose the death penalty. (TR. Vol. II 388).

that his actions demonstrated Stephens was indifferent to the fate of this helpless child. The Court found that, under the circumstances, death was a permissible sentence. <u>Stephens</u> 787 So.2d at 760.

Even if Stephens had persisted in his motion and been granted a jury interview, and the jurors would have agreed that Dr. Buck's statement accurately reflected the jurors' impressions that Stephens did not intend to kill the child, death was still a permissible recommended sentence. Because Stephens cannot show that a juror interview would to bring to light matters that, if true, would mandate this court to order a new penalty phase, Stephens can show no prejudice from trial counsel's decision to withdraw his motion to interview jurors. His claim should be denied.

#### CLAIM V

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED FUNDAMENTAL ERROR BY INSTRUCTING THE JURY REGARDING AGGRAVATING FACTORS WHEN, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THESE FACTORS DID NOT APPLY AND WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO ADEQUATELY OBJECT AND/OR CONCEDING THESE AGGRAVATORS TO THE JURY

In his final claim before this Court, Stephens claims that trial court committed fundamental error when it instructed the jury on the heinous, atrocious or cruel (HAC) aggravator when as a matter of law it did not exist. Stephens also claims the

trial court erred in instructing the jury on the pecuniary gain aggravator because the State failed to demonstrate that pecuniary gain was the "primary motive for the killing." (IB 99). Finally, Stephens, without any argument, alleges trial counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately challenge both aggravators and by conceding the aggravators to the jury. <sup>18</sup> Stephens raised a variation of this claim in his petition for writ of habeas corpus filed contemporaneously with the initial brief in this appeal.

## A. HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, OR CRUEL AGGRAVATOR

Stephens argues the HAC aggravator did not apply because he lacked the requisite intent to kill. (IB 97). Additionally, Stephens claims the HAC aggravator did not apply, as a matter of law, because the trial judge did not find, beyond a reasonable doubt, the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. (IB 97). Though not entirely clear, it appears that Stephens' second argument is that fundamental error occurs if, based on the evidence presented at trial, the trial judge instructs the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> While trial counsel was not successful in his attempt to prevent the jury from being instructed on these two aggravators, trial counsel successfully argued to the trial judge the aggravators were not proven. The trial judge, in his sentencing order, rejected both the HAC and pecuniary gain aggravators. (TR Vol. II 390, 391)

jury on an aggravator but later rejects it in his sentencing order. Stephens' claim is without support in law or logic.

This claim should be denied for two reasons. First, the claim is procedurally barred. Substantive challenges to jury instructions may be raised on direct appeal. Failure to do so acts as a procedural bar in post-conviction proceedings. Thompson v. State, 759 So. 2d 650, 665 (Fla. 2000)(substantive challenges to these jury instructions are procedurally barred because Thompson could have raised these claims on direct appeal). As Stephens failed to challenge the adequacy of the evidence to support the HAC instruction on direct appeal, Stephens is procedurally barred from bringing this substantive claim in these proceedings.

Second, this claim should be denied because it is without merit. This Court has held that a finding of HAC is proper in murders that evince extreme and outrageous depravity as exemplified either by the desire to inflict a high degree of pain or utter indifference to or enjoyment of the suffering of another. Brown v. State, 721 So. 2d 274, 277 (Fla. 1998). The HAC aggravator focuses on the means and manner in which death is inflicted and the immediate circumstances surrounding the death. Card v. State, 803 So. 2d 613,624 (Fla. 2001). Accordingly, contrary to Stephen's suggestion he did not have the requisite

intent to permit the trial judge to instruct the jury on the HAC aggravator, the focus on the HAC aggravator is not on the intent of the assailant, but on the actual suffering caused to the victim. <u>Schoenwetter v. State</u>, 931 So. 2d 857, 874 (Fla. 2006). See also <u>Barnhill v. State</u>, 834 So. 2d 836,850) (Fla. 2002) (concluding that if a victim is killed in a torturous manner, a defendant need not have the intent or desire to inflict torture, because the very torturous manner of the victim's death is evidence of a defendant's indifference).

Competent substantial evidence supported the trial judge's decision to instruct Stephens' jury on the HAC aggravator. The evidence adduced at trial showed that Robert Sparrow III died an extremely torturous death brought on by Jason Stephens' utter indifference for the life of a child he kidnapped from the safety of his home. Stephens can demonstrate neither error nor judge's instruction on prejudice in the trial the HAC Floyd v. State, 850 So. 2d 383, 405 aggravator. (Fla. 2002)(where competent, substantial evidence supports the trial judge's decision to do so, it is not error to instruct the jury The fact the trial on the HAC aggravator). judqe later concluded the aggravator had not been proven beyond a reasonable doubt, because he did not believe Stephens intended to kill Robert Sparrow does nothing to undermine the propriety of

instructing the jury on an aggravator supported by evidence adduced at trial.

In the case at bar, as found by this Court on direct appeal, the evidence demonstrated that Stephens kidnapped Robert Sparrow from his home and his parents' care on June 2, 1997 at about 2:30 p.m., drove him away in a stolen dark colored Kia, and parked the car on the side of the street, without the benefit of any shade, on a hot and sunny day. The windows in the car were rolled up and all of the doors were closed. Some seven hours later, Little Rob was found dead in the car. Stephens v. State, 787 So.2d 747, 751 (Fla. 2001).

At trial, the State proceeded on a theory that Stephens suffocated Little Rob before he abandoned him in the stolen Kia. The defense proceeded on a theory Stephens left Little Rob alive in the car and Little Rob died a prolonged death caused by hyperthermia. Even accepting Stephens' claim he left the child alive in the car, Stephens own defense expert laid the foundation for the trial judge to properly instruct the jury on the HAC aggravator.

Dr. Steve Dunton testified he was the medical examiner in Atlanta. (TR Vol. XIV 1616). Dr. Dunton opined that Little Rob died of hyperthermia and his death "took some time to occur." (TR Vol. XIV 1630). He testified that on the day of the murder,

June 2, 1997, there were 13 hours of sunshine which was the longest duration of daylight hours in the entire month of June. (TR Vol. XIV 1625-1626).

According to Dr. Dunton, there was nothing to provide shade to the area where Stephens parked the Kia. Dr. Dunton testified the temperature in the car, under the circumstances would have reached the low hundreds if not higher. (TR Vol. VIX 1639). Dr. Dunton told the jury he would expect that Robert Sparrow III would have suffered periods of panic and increased anxiety prior to his death. (TR Vol. XIV 1652). Dr. Dunton opined that it would have taken Robert Sparrow III anywhere from 30 minutes to several hours to die. (TR Vol. XIV 1651-1652). Dr. Dunton found brain swelling which contraindicated a speedy death.

Stephens can show no error, let alone fundamental error, because the trial judge properly instructed the jury on the HAC aggravator. Stephens own expert presented competent substantial evidence to support a conclusion that Robert Sparrow died a prolonged tortuous death at the hands of the defendant. <u>Duest</u> <u>v. State</u>, 855 So. 2d 33, 47 (Fla. 2003) (evidence of prolonged suffering is sufficient to support HAC).

Even this Court, on direct appeal, concluded the record of trial demonstrated that Stephens was indifferent to the fate of this helpless child. Stephens v. State, 787 So.2d 747, 751

(Fla. 2001). As Stephens can make no showing the trial judge's instruction to the jury on the HAC aggravator constituted error, let alone fundamental error, Stephens' claim should be denied.

This Court should also deny Stephens' bare bones allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel. The record reflects that trial counsel objected to instructing the jury on the HAC aggravator and argued vigorously the aggravator did not apply. (TR Vol. IV 685-689). Stephens seems to base his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel on the premise that counsel did not argue it well enough. Counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to object when in fact he did so. <u>Knight v. State</u>, 923 SO.2d 387, 403 (Fla. 2005) (trial counsel not ineffective for failing to object when he did object). Stephens claim should be denied.<sup>19</sup>

#### B. The Pecuniary Gain Aggravator

Stephens claims the trial court committed fundamental error when it instructed the jury on the pecuniary gain aggravator when as a matter of law, this factor did not apply. (IB 99).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Even if trial counsel had not objected, Stephens' claim would be without merit. As there was competent substantial evidence to support the HAC instruction, trial counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to object. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 206, 210 (Fla. 1992) (trial counsel not ineffective for failing to object to instruction when the trial judge committed no error in instructing the jury).

Stephens argues the pecuniary gain aggravator did not apply, as a matter of law, because pecuniary gain was not the primary motive for the killing. (IB 99). Stephens also claims the instruction was vague because the jury was not told that in order to apply, pecuniary gain had to be the primary motive for the killing. In support of his argument, Stephens points to this Court's 1988 decision in <u>Scull v. State</u>, 533 SO.2d 1137 (Fla. 1988). Stephens also points to the trial judge's sentencing order that found the theft of property had already been completed by the time the murder happened. (IB 99).

This claim should be denied for two reasons. First, Stephens' substantive challenge to the trial judge's instruction on the pecuniary gain aggravator is procedurally barred. Substantive challenges to jury instructions may be raised on direct appeal. Failure to do so, acts as a procedural bar in post-conviction proceedings. <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 759 So. 2d 650, 665 (Fla. 2000). As Stephens failed to challenge the adequacy of the evidence to support the pecuniary gain instruction on direct appeal, Stephens is procedurally barred from bringing this substantive claim in these proceedings.

Stephens constitutional challenge to the pecuniary gain instruction, on vagueness grounds, is also procedurally barred. This Court has explicitly stated that postconviction challenges

to the constitutionality of jury instructions will not be entertained unless there has been an objection on constitutional grounds at trial for preservation of appellate review and the issue has been asserted on direct appeal. <u>Anderson v. State</u>, 822 So. 2d 1261,1269 (Fla. 2002). As Stephens did not raise this claim on direct appeal, the claim is procedurally barred.

Second, this claim may be denied because it is without merit. Stephens is mistaken when he claims that in order to establish the existence of the pecuniary gain aggravator, the State must prove that pecuniary gain was the primary motive for the killing.

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